ORIGINAL

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

3

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

26

SIAOSI VANISI,	)	No. 35249	
Appellant,	)		<b>FILED</b>
vs.	) )		APR 19 2000
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	) .	Ву	JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERKOR SUPPLEME COURT
Respondent.	Ì		DEPUTY CLERK

Appeal from A Judgment of Conviction Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada The Honorable Connie Steinheimer, District Judge

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction following a jury trial. Appellant, Siaosi Vanisi (hereinafter "Mr. Vanisi"), was convicted of one (1) count of murder with the use of a deadly weapon a violation of NRS 200.010, NRS 200.030 and NRS 193.165, a felony; three (3) counts of robbery with the use of a deadly weapon, a violation of NRS 200.380 and NRS 193.165, each a felony; and one (1) count of grand larceny, a violation of NRS 205.220, a felony. The jury imposed a sentence of death by lethal injection on the murder count. On November 22, 1999, Judge Steinheimer entered a judgment of conviction consistent with the jury's verdict specifically, a sentence of death on the murder count. ROA Vol. 6 at 1845-1846 (Judgment); ROA Vol. 6 at 1843-1844 (Order of Committal); ROA Vol. 6 at 1847-1848

(Order of Execution); and ROA Vol. 6 at 1849-1852 (Warrant of Execution).<sup>2</sup> At that time Mr. Vanisi was also sentenced, on each of the robbery counts, to a maximum term of 180 months with a minimum parole eligibility of 72 months plus a consecutive like sentence due to the weapon enhancement. On the grand larceny count Mr. Vanisi was sentenced to a term of 120 months with a minimum parole eligibility of 48 months and was further ordered to pay a fine in the amount of \$10,000.00. These sentences were ordered to be served consecutive to each other and consecutive to the death penalty imposed herein on the murder count. Mr. Vanisi was given credit for 667 days time served. ROA Vol. 6 at 1845-1846 (Judgment). Mr. Vanisi was also ordered to pay a \$25.00 administrative assessment, a DNA testing fee in the amount of \$250.00 and attorney fees in the amount of \$750.00. Id.<sup>3</sup>

On November 23, 1999, Judge Steinheimer entered an Order Staying Execution Pending Direct Appeal. ROA Vol. 6 at 1853. A notice of appeal was filed on November 30, 1999. ROA Vol. 6 at 1854-1854A (Notice of Appeal).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 4

### **Guilt Phase**

On January 13, 1998, Dr. Ellen Clark -- a board specialized forensic pathologist -- performed an autopsy upon the body of Sergeant George Sullivan. ROA Vol. 22 at 519, 521, and 523. She concluded that Sergeant Sullivan "died of multiple injuries of the skull and brain due to blunt impact trauma." <u>Id</u> at 527. She found a total of at least 20 "separate and discrete

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Record on Appeal Vol. 6 at 1768-1769 (Verdict).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "ROA" stands for the Record on Appeal which, pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 250, has been docketed with this Court by the clerk of the district court.

And See ROA Vol. 33 (Transcript of Proceedings: Sentencing/Imposition of Jury Sentence).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The following statement of facts is taken from the trial transcripts. Citation will be to the reporters' original pagination.

impacts to the face and head." <u>Id</u>. She also found that each of the wounds were "all acute and of the same age." <u>Id</u> at 540. That is, they occurred at roughly the same time and were of such a nature that "the survival interval would have been relatively short." <u>Id</u> at 541.

On the night of January 12, 1999, Brenda Martinez drove to the University of Nevada to pick up her father -- a custodian at the University. <u>Id</u> at 545-547. She arrived just after midnight. <u>Id</u>. While waiting in the University parking lot for her father to arrive she saw a dog that caught her attention. She also saw a man. <u>Id</u> at 548. The man was walking "kind of funny" and was wearing a beanie cap. He had long hair, a full beard and he was wearing a long coat and had baggy pants. <u>Id</u> at 550. She picked up her dad and left the campus. <u>Id</u>. While driving down Virginia Street, by the University, she saw the man again. He was in the student union parking lot and was walking towards the lake that is located on campus. <u>Id</u> at 551. At trial Ms. Martinez identified Mr. Vanisi as the man she saw walking on campus that night. <u>Id</u> at 553-554.

Carl Smith, a police officer for the University of Nevada, testified that on January 13, 1998, he was on duty. At about 17 minutes after midnight on the 13th he responded to Ninth and Center streets because Sergeant Sullivan had effected a traffic stop there. <u>Id</u> at 563-564, and 565-566, 568. Prior to arriving at the scene he saw a person near the area where Sergeant Sullivan was. This individual looked dark-skinned and had dreadlocks. According to the officer this individual "gave [him] a glaring stare like, Let's [sic] fight." <u>Id</u>. at 569. But he noted that that was something an officer occasionally sees. <u>Id</u> at 569-570. At trial Officer Smith identified Mr. Vanisi as the man he saw on campus that night. <u>Id</u> at 572. Officer Smith

then drove up and stopped behind Sergeant Sullivan's car. <u>Id</u> at 573. After completing the task at hand Sergeant Sullivan drove up to the University and up to a kiosk located there. <u>Id</u> at 578. According to Officer Smith the lighting in that area is good for writing reports and taking care of routine administrative details. <u>Id</u> at 579. At about 1:00 that morning Officer Smith was dispatched to the area of the kiosk. <u>Id</u> at 581-582. When he arrived he found Sergeant Sullivan laying several feet away from his vehicle. He was on the ground facing up. <u>Id</u> at 582. Sergeant Sullivan's gun belt, holster and gun were missing. <u>Id</u> at 586.

On January 13, 1998, Andrew Ciocca was walking through the campus grounds on his was home from visiting a friend. <u>Id</u> at 603-604. Upon cresting a hill he saw a UNR police car that was parked. Later he noticed someone who appeared to be under the police car. <u>Id</u> at 606. Moments later he realized that what he had thought to be leaking fluid from the police car was actually blood. <u>Id</u> at 607. Mr. Ciocca went to the body and felt for a pulse. He noticed that the body was warm. Mr. Ciocca ran to a nearby pay phone and called 911. He then returned to the police vehicle and called for assistance on the police radio. <u>Id</u>. Shortly thereafter Officer Smith arrived. <u>Id</u> at 610.

In January 1998, Mele Maveni was a student at Hug High School. <u>Id</u> at 647, 649. At about 9:00 on the Friday night prior to the death of Sergeant Sullivan, Ms. Maveni went to a local WalMart with Mr. Vanisi and her cousin Saia. <u>Id</u> at 650. Ms. Maveni had met Mr. Vanisi about two weeks earlier and considered him a friend. <u>Id</u> at 648-649. While inside WalMart Mr. Vanisi looked at some guns; however he did not purchase a gun. <u>Id</u> at 653. He

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> On cross-examination Ms. Martinez explained that the man was walking "slanted kind of as if he was maybe drunk." ROA Vol. 22 at 557. She also said that he "was funny. He was kind of like when you get drunk, or you are sleepy and you're walking nowhere." <u>Id</u> at 558.

did purchase a hatchet<sup>6</sup> and some gloves.<sup>7</sup> According to Ms. Maveni, once the three of them were back in her van Mr. Vanisi made statements indicating that he hated police officers and wanted to kill them. <u>Id</u> at 655-656. He also said he did not like white people because they took a lot from the Polynesians. <u>Id</u> at 656. Apparently at one point as they drove passed the police station Mr. Vanisi asked to be dropped off because he wanted to kill a cop. <u>Id</u> at 657-658. But Ms. Maveni and Saia thought he was joking. <u>Id</u> at 658. Later, as they were driving, there was a police car in front of them and Mr. Vanisi again asked to be dropped off. He again expressed a desire to kill a police officer. <u>Id</u> at 659. The following Monday morning Ms. Maveni saw Mr. Vanisi. <u>Id</u> at 661. He was wearing some beige corduroy pants and a dreadlocks wig. <u>Id</u> at 662.<sup>8</sup>

Sateki Taukiuvea met Mr. Vanisi through his girlfriend, Renee Peaua. ROA Vol. 23 at 688-689. When he first met him Mr. Vanisi was wearing a long hair wig. <u>Id</u> at 690. In the evening of Monday January 12, 1998, Mr. Taukiuvea drove Mr. Vanisi over to Renee's house, which was located on Sterling way near the University. <u>Id</u> at 696-697. At that time Mr. Vanisi was wearing the wig, a maroon coat and brown corduroy pants. <u>Id</u> at 697. Mr. Tauliuvea then drove back to a house located on Rock Boulevard and went to sleep. <u>Id</u> at 697-698. At about 1:30 that morning he woke up when Mr. Vanisi walked into the house. <u>Id</u> at 698. Mr. Vanisi

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Later DNA testing of stains found on the hatchet showed them to belong to Sergeant Sullivan. ROA Vol. 22 at 641.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Later DNA testing of stains found on the gloves showed some to belong to Sergeant Sullivan and to Mr. Vanisi. ROA Vol. 22 at 642.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Several others testified for the State concerning Mr. Vanisi's expressions (made around the same time) of a desire to kill a police officer. See ROA Vol. 23 at 672-687 (Makaleta Kavapalu); Id at 688-696 (Sateki Taukiuvea); ROA Vol. 23 at 743, 747-748 (Maria Louis); ROA Vol. 23 at 766-778 (William Louis); ROA Vol. 23 at 779-783 (Priscilla Endemann).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Manaoui Peaua, Renee's brother, gave him a ride to the house on Rock Boulevard. ROA Vol. 23 at 784-785, 787-788

was carrying a white plastic shopping bag. <u>Id</u> at 699.<sup>10</sup> Mr. Vanisi did not have his wig with him. <u>Id</u> at 700. Later, through some friends Mr. Taukiuvea learned of Sergeant Sullivan's death. <u>Id</u> at 701. At some point thereafter he asked Mr. Vanisi if he had any involvement in that death. According to Mr. Taukiuvea Mr. Vanisi said that he had "killed the cop." <u>Id</u>. Mr. Vanisi also showed him a gun. <u>Id</u> at 702.<sup>11</sup>

Renee Peaua is Mr. Vanisi's cousin. <u>Id</u> at 705, 707. On January 12, 1998 Ms. Peaua was living in a house on Sterling Way. <u>Id</u> at 709. At about 10:30 that night Mr. Vanisi was there, eating. <u>Id</u> at 710-711. When Ms. Peaua left the house Mr. Vanisi stayed. He was wearing his beanie and his wig. <u>Id</u> at 711. Ms. Peaua next saw Mr. Vanisi at a house on Rock Boulevard sometime after 12:30 a.m. <u>Id</u> at 715. He did not have his wig and he was carrying a white bag. <u>Id</u> at 716. When he walked in that morning Mr. Vanisi went in to the kitchen. <u>Id</u> at 718. Later that morning Ms. Peaua saw Mr. Vanisi sitting in the kitchen looking at his hatchet. <u>Id</u> at 723. That morning Ms. Peaua asked Mr. Vanisi if he had killed a policeman. <u>Id</u> at 740. He answered affirmatively. <u>Id</u>.

In January 1998, Maria Louis was living on North Rock Boulevard in Sparks. <u>Id</u> at 743-744. Mr. Vanisi is Ms. Louis's uncle. <u>Id</u> at 745. At approximately 1:15 a.m. on the morning of January 13, 1998, Mr. Vanisi walked into the apartment. <u>Id</u> at 748-749. He was carrying a little white plastic bag. <u>Id</u> at 761. Later, while watching the news, Ms. Louis learned that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Later fingerprint analysis identified prints belonging to Mr. Vanisi on this bag. ROA Vol. 22 at 623.

The wig was recovered by a sheriff's search and rescue volunteer in the Orr Ditch. ROA Vol. 24 at 836, 838. While in Utah Mr. Vanisi told a relative that he had thrown his wig and hat in a ditch near the University. <u>Id</u> at 825

police were looking items relating to the instant case. <u>Id</u> at 757. Ms. Louis found those items in a kitchen cabinet at her house. <u>Id</u> at 758. She then called the police. <u>Id</u> at 759. <sup>12</sup> <sup>13</sup>

On January 13, 1998, Louis Hill owned a black Toyota 1992 Camry. <u>Id</u> at 841-842. On that night he had his car outside warming up. He was in his house. When he came outside the car was gone. The car was later recovered in Utah. <u>Id</u> at 842.

On January 13, 1998, Patricia Misito was working as a clerk at a 7-11 store located on Baring Boulevard. At about 10:20 that night she notice an individual standing near the door of the store. Id at 846-848. A customer purchased some Copenhagen with a 20-dollar bill. Id at 849. When she had the change drawer open to give the customer his change the man that had been standing by the door came in and asked if Ms. Misito could help him out. The man showed her a gun and she put the drawer on the counter and said, "help yourself." Id at 850. At trial Ms. Misito identified Mr. Vanisi as the man with the gun. Id at 851. Mr. Vanisi took the money from the drawer -- approximately \$99.00. Id at 854. The customer sought to give Mr. Vanisi his change but Mr. Vanisi told him "No thanks, man" and left after telling Ms. Misito not to call the cops. Id. 14

At about 10:30 in the evening of January 13, 1998, Diana Shouse was working as a clerk at a Jackson's Market on MacCarran and Clear Acre. <u>Id</u> at 861. A man came in and laid his gun on the counter and told her to empty the cash drawer into a paper bag. Ms. Shouse did as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Reno Police Detective Jim Duncan was among those officers who responded to the call and as a result, collected items from the house including the hatchet. ROA Vol. 24 at 800-821. Detective Duncan also noted that the police had received a "secret witness" call that Mr. Vanisi had committed a "187" -- 187 being the California Penal Code for murder. Id at 809-810.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Detective Duncan also testified that an arrest warrant for the arrest of Mr. Vanisi was sought and obtained. ROA Vol. 24 at 823. The information was placed on a national crime computer and subsequently the police were contacted by the Salt Lake County Sheriff's Office, Salt Lake, Utah. Id at 823.

she was told. <u>Id</u> at 862. The man then left the store. <u>Id</u>. At trial Ms. Shouse identified Mr. Vanisi as the man who took the money. <u>Id</u> at 864.

David Kinikini lives in Salt Lake City, Utah. Mr. Vanisi is his cousin. ROA Vol. 25 at 909-910. On January 14, 1998, Mr. Vanisi unexpectedly arrived at Mr. Kinikini's house. <u>Id</u> at 913. Mr. Kinikini described Mr. Vanisi as being "very excited" and anxious to visit with relatives. <u>Id</u> at 914. Around 3:00 or 4:00 in the afternoon a relative informed Mr. Kinikini that the police were looking for Mr. Vanisi. Subsequently the police directly contacted him. <u>Id</u> at 915. At this time Mr. Vanisi was not at the house, having gone down to a youth rec center to play basketball. <u>Id</u> at 916. Eventually Mr. Vanisi returned to the house and the police arrived. <u>Id</u> at 918. 16

Salt Lake County Sheriff Investigator Keith Stephens was one of the officers that responded to Mr. Kinikini's house on January 14, 1998. <u>Id</u> at 929, 933. He arrived around 5:30, 6:00 that evening. <u>Id</u> at 933. The police gave several commands to Mr. Vanisi to give up and come out of the house. <u>Id</u> at 935.<sup>17</sup> Mr. Vanisi did not respond. <u>Id</u>.

Vanisi started. That is, Mr. Vanisi was alone in the house. ROA Vol. 25 at 934.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Caleb Bartelheim was the customer in the store that night. ROA Vol. 24 at 855-856. He too identified Mr. Vanisi. <u>Id</u> at 858. He also acknowledged that Mr. Vanisi did not take his money though he offered to give it to him. <u>Id</u> at 859.

<sup>15</sup> Vainga Kinikini ("Vainga") was staying at Mr. Kinikini's house when Mr. Vanisi arrived. ROA Vol. 25 at 954, 956. He too noticed that Mr. Vanisi was "excited or real hyper." Id at 959. According to Vainga Mr. Vanisi told him that he had committed a murder. Vainga did not believe him. Id at 960. But Mr. Vanisi showed him a gun and told him it was a cop's gun. Id at 963. Vainga testified that Mr. Vanisi told him that he waited around for a campus police officer to complete a traffic stop investigation. Id at 975. That he then crept up on the officer who appeared to be doing some paperwork. Id at 976. He knocked on the window and the officer asked if he could help. Then Mr. Vanisi started swinging with the hatchet. Id at 977-979. Mr. Vanisi told Vainga that he took a gun and a belt from the officer. Id at 981. Mr. Vanisi also told Vainga that at the time of this killing his disguise was a "beanie with dreadlocks, fake dreadlocks attached to it" [Id at 982], which he later threw in a nearby canal. Id at 984.

Id at 984.

16 Mr. Kinikini remembers seeing about 20 plus police officers stationed outside. ROA Vol. 25 at 921.

17 Mr. Kinikini and others who had been in the house had left the residence before the police commands to Mr.

Salt Lake County deputy sheriff Craig Meyer also responded as part of the sheriff's SWAT team. Id at 941. He also arrived around 6:00 that evening. Id at 942. The area around the house was being contained by police officers when the garage was set on fire. Id at 944. At that point the members of the swat team were ordered to enter the residence. Id. Upon entering the building the deputy saw Mr. Vanisi down a hall way to his right. Id at 948. Mr. Vanisi was holding a gun. Deputy Meyer raised his weapon and shot Mr. Vanisi in the arm. Id at 949-950. While firing at Mr. Vanisi the deputy proceeded to back out of the residence. Id at 950-951. About ten minutes later Mr. Vanisi stepped outside and, failing to respond to the officers' commands, was shot with a "bean-bag" round to subdue him. Then he was taken into custody. Id at 951-952.

The State rested its case-in-chief at this point. <u>Id</u> at 994. Mr. Vanisi elected not to testify. <u>Id</u> at 971. Without calling any defense witnesses, the defense also rested. <u>Id</u> at 995.

The jury found Mr. Vanisi guilty of one (1) count first degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon; three (3) counts of robbery with the use of a deadly weapon; and one (1) count of grand larceny. <u>Id</u> at 1043-1045; <u>and see</u> ROA Vol. 6 at 1722-1727 (Verdicts).

# **Penalty Phase**

The State's first penalty witness was Michael Wiley, a correctional officer with the Nevada State Prison. ROA Vol. 28 at 1133-1134. He testified that on May 24, 1998, he was on watch in the Unit 12 yards of the Nevada State Prison. <u>Id</u> at 1135-1136. Mr. Vanisi was in the "walk-alone yard" and refused to respond to a command to come to the gate to be locked

 $<sup>^{18}</sup>$  Mr. Vanisi did not fire any rounds at the deputy. ROA Vol. 25 at 953.

up. <u>Id</u> at 1135-1137.<sup>19</sup> According to the officer Mr. Vanisi had begun to dig a hole under one of the fences. <u>Id</u> at 1138. Mr. Vanisi would not stop and eventually the officer shot at him with real hard rubber pellets. <u>Id</u> at 1139-1141. Another correctional officer also took shots at Mr. Vanisi. <u>Id</u> at 1141. Ultimately Mr. Vanisi was removed from the yard. <u>Id</u> at 1142.

Next, Nevada State Prison correctional officer David Molnar testified concerning an incident that occurred three days later on May 27, 1998. Officer Molnar testified about Mr. Vanisi's barricading himself in his cell and the efforts taken to successfully remove him from that cell. <u>Id</u> at 1154-1160.

The State's next witness was Deborah Mann, a Correctional Case Work Specialist 3 at the Nevada State Prison. <u>Id</u> at 1168. As part of her duties she completed an assessment of Mr. Vanisi concerning levels of dangerousness or threat to staff and/or other inmates. <u>Id</u> at 1169-1172. She opined that Mr. Vanisi was "very volatile and very conniving" and was considered by her to be a significant risk to staff and inmates. <u>Id</u> at 1172.

The State also called a couple of Washoe County deputies to testify about discipline problems Mr. Vanisi had at the Washoe County Jail -- chiefly failure to timely return to his cell when ordered to. See Id at 1178-1195 (James Ellis); Id at 1214-1224 (Geoffrey Wise).

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