. 3		ORIGINAL
a., 19		
1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE	STATE OF NEVADA
2		FILED
3		
4	SIAOSI VANISI,	AUG 16 2000
5	Appellant,	
6	v.	
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	No. 35249
8	Respondent.	
9	//	
10	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERIN	IG BRIEF
11		
12	MICHAEL R. SPECCHIO Public Defender	RICHARD A. GAMMICK District Attorney
13	JOHN REESE PETTY	TERRENCE P. McCARTHY
14	Chief Appellate Deputy P. O. Box 30083	Appellate Deputy P. O. Box 30083
15	Reno, Nevada 89520-3083	Reno, Nevada 89520-3083
16 17	ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT	ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25	RECEIVED	
26	AUG 1 6 2000	
• •	JANETTE M. BLOOM CLERK OF SUPREME COURT DEPUTY CLERK	$n_{-1} = 12477$
	DEPUTY CLERK 8/14	100



1

# II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

23

24

25

In the days preceding the murder of Sergeant Sullivan, appellant Vanisi announced his intent to kill a police officer. He 26 went shopping for an appropriate weapon. He rejected a gun when he

learned that he would need a license. So, he settled on a hatchet. 22 ROA 654; <u>see also</u>, references in the Opening Brief at p.6, n.8.

In the early morning hours of January 13, 1998, Vanisi brought his plan to fruition. He disguised himself and travelled to the campus of the University of Nevada. He watched Sergeant Sullivan conducting a traffic investigation. He waited in the shadows until Sullivan completed that task. He watched as Sullivan moved his car to an area with better light where some police officers liked to complete their paperwork. He crept up on the car and knocked on the window. When Sullivan lowered the window and asked if he could assist, Vanisi lashed out with the hatchet. 25 ROA 975-979.<sup>1</sup> Over and over he smashed the officer's face and head with the hatchet. With one of the blows, Vanisi's hatchet sliced through Sullivan's eyes. <u>See generally</u>, 22 ROA 520-542.

15 Vanisi took the officer's Sam Brown belt with its gun and other devices. He used the gun to rob two stores. 23 ROA 850-51; 16 861-64. Before the robberies, he stole a car. 17 23 ROA 841-42. Afterwards, he fled to Utah. 25 ROA 909-910. He was apprehended 18 at a relative's home in Utah when Utah police used a non-lethal 19 20 bean-bag gun to disable him. 25 ROA 951-52. He was then returned 21 to Nevada to stand trial.

22 Before the trial, there were several *in camera* hearings 23 from which the prosecutor was excluded. The transcripts of those

24

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

<sup>1</sup>For the sake of brevity, this summary is taken from Vanisi's 25 confession to a relative. There was a wealth of corroborating evidence adduced at the trial but it is not necessary to describe 26 it in detail.

hearings have been sealed by order of the district court. <u>See</u> ROA (transcripts of June 23, 1999; August 3, 1999; August 26, 1999; September 20, 1999, September 27, 1999.) Because those transcripts cover areas protected by the attorney-client privilege, the State has been denied access to them and must argue this appeal with one hand tied behind its back.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7 The second trial was set for September 7, 1999. In 8 August, 1999, Vanisi filed a motion for leave to represent himself. 9 5 ROA 1300-1303. The court conducted a hearing, made extensive 10 findings of fact, and denied the motion. 5 ROA 1333-1418. Amonq other things, the court noted that Vanisi admitted that he made the 11 12 decision to represent himself on January 16, 1998, two days after 13 his arrest, but had purposely delayed bringing the motion until 14 what Vanisi perceived as the last viable moment. 5 ROA 1360; 5 ROA 15 1246-47. The delay occurred despite the fact that in November, 16 1998, the court cautioned Vanisi that a motion for self-17 representation must be brought in a timely fashion. 3 ROA 785-86. Even after Vanisi reached his decision, noted the court, he had 18 19 asserted contrary positions in an apparent attempt to delay the 20 proceedings. For instance, on June 18, 1999, Vanisi filed a motion 21 not seeking to represent himself, but instead seeking to discharge 22 his counsel and to have new counsel appointed. 4 ROA 999-1008. He 23 did that even though he had already decided to represent himself at trial. 24

25 Similarly, in November, 1998, he specifically denied any 26 desire to represent himself and announced that he would continue

with his trial counsel "for this time." 4 ROA 785. This, despite the fact, as noted by the district court, that he had already decided to represent himself. In that same time frame he denied knowing his options, but in the next breath acknowledged that he had the right to represent himself. 3 ROA 801. Finally, in that same hearing, Vanisi went so far as to seek advice from the court regarding how best to delay the trial. 3 ROA 807. Thus, the district court concluded that Vanisi was deliberately misleading the court by purposefully delaying presenting his motion for selfrepresentation until some 20 months after he had made his decision.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

In the hearing concerning the motion to represent himself, Vanisi announced his intent to seek legal advice from other inmates and from his "counselor" at the jail and from his stand-by counsel. 5 ROA 1338. Although he later denied the intent to induce others into the unauthorized practice of law, the court appears to have believed that Vanisi was being less than honest about his intent.

18 Vanisi also appears to have assumed that the district 19 court would appoint stand-by counsel with whom he could consult. 20 5 ROA 1339. Although he nominally acknowledged that appointment of 21 such counsel was "discretionary," he gave no indication that he understood that the refusal to appoint such counsel was also 22 discretionary. 5 ROA 1370. Thus, it may well have been that his 23 motion for self-representation was equivocal or conditional. 24 It 25 may have been founded on the assumption that he would have stand-by 26 counsel.

Vanisi denied that he intended to use self-representation as a means to delay or disrupt the trial, but the trial court, after commenting on the demeanor and deportment of Vanisi, found that was indeed his intent despite his denials. 5 ROA 1247.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

25

In reporting on the defendant's competency in June, 1999, two doctors opined that Vanisi was "malingering." Thus, it appears that Vanisi was trying to mislead the court in that manner as well.<sup>2</sup>

9 At the hearing on the motion for self-representation, Vanisi also revealed that his motion was equivocal in that he 10 11 assumed that if he were allowed to represent himself, then security 12 measures would be altered, and he would have the same freedom to 13 move about the courtroom as would the prosecutor. Even after the 14 court cautioned him on that point, he continued to demonstrate that he believed he would be entitled to be relieved of security 15 precautions exactly to the same extent as the prosecutor. 16 5 ROA 17 1377; 5 ROA 1249-50; 1255.

At the hearing, Vanisi claimed that he had a tactical reason for seeking self-representation. The court indicated that no tactical advantage was obvious and that the court feared the true reason for self-representation by Vanisi would be to allow improper conduct. 5 ROA 1374-75. However, even in the face of the strong indication that the court suspected his true tactical motivation was to allow disruption, Vanisi could not identify any

<sup>2</sup>The psychiatric reports should be found in the sealed 26 exhibits included in the record. They are described at 4 ROA 1073.

1 tactical reason for his decision in even the most general way. 5 ROA 1375-76. As a consequence of that and other considerations, it 2 3 appears that the true strategy of Vanisi was to enable himself to delay and disrupt the proceedings, and to bring about yet another 4 5 mistrial. At the hearing on the motion for self-representation, 6 the court also reviewed (but did not rely upon) a certain 7 videotape, exhibit "A," in which Vanisi predicted yet another 8 mistrial. 5 ROA 1383-1390; 5 ROA 1254. The court noted that 9 Vanisi's "demeanor and verbal behavior" on the tape was consistent with prior hearings. 5 ROA 1254. Those prior hearings include 10 11 those from which the prosecutor was excluded.

After the hearing on the motion for self-representation, the district court made extensive findings of fact. The court found, *inter alia*, that despite his protestations to the contrary, Vanisi intended to use his self-representation to delay and disrupt the proceedings. 5 ROA 1247. Accordingly, the court denied the motion for self-representation. Trial proceeded and Vanisi was convicted.

19 III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

20

21

22

TRIAL COURT, IN EVALUATING A MOTION FOR Α. RULE REPRESENTATION IS NOT REQUIRED ΒY ANY OF ACCEPT THE REPRESENTATIONS OF THE DEFENDANT AΤ FACE VALUE.

23 Vanisi argues that the district court erred in denying
24 his motion for self-representation. He appears to take the
25 position that there was no evidence supporting the conclusion that
26 he intended to delay and disrupt the proceedings. The State

disagrees.

1

2

3

A criminal defendant apparently enjoys two inconsistent rights: the right to counsel and the right to proceed without counsel. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 4 5 (1975).The law creates a presumption in favor of the former and 6 against the latter because the right to counsel attaches even 7 without any request from the defendant. United States v. Arlt, 41 8 F.3d 516, 520 (quoting Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387, 404, 97 S.Ct. 1232, 51 L.Ed.2d 424 (1977)).<sup>3</sup> 9

10 The right to self-representation has been described as an "unqualified" right. Baker v. State, 97 Nev. 634, 636, 637 P.2d 11 12 1217, 1218 (1981). Nevertheless, it appears that the right is not 13 absolute, and that there are occasions when a trial court may 14 refuse the request and require the defendant to proceed with the 15 benefit of counsel. The circumstances are narrow. Generally, a 16 competent defendant may represent himself. However, the Supreme 17 Court has noted that "the trial judge may terminate self-18 representation by a defendant who deliberately engages in serious

<sup>3</sup>The basic proposition that a defendant enjoys the right to 20 self-representation has been called into question of late. See <u>United States v. Farhad</u>, 190 F.3d 1097, 1101 (9th Cir. 1999) 21 (Reinhardt, J., concurring). See also, Martinez v. Court of Appeal of California, \_\_\_U.S. \_\_\_, 120 S.Ct. 684 (2000) (in the course of declaring that there was no right of self-representation on appeal, the Court noted that the basis for <u>Faretta</u>, was infra, questionable). While it is not necessary to the instant case, the State invites this Court to adopt the reasoning of Judge Reinhardt and to hold that Faretta was wrongly decided and should be 25 overturned.

7

26

19

22

23

and obstructionist misconduct." In addition, the 1 <u>Faretta</u> n.46. 2 Court noted in the same breath that "[t]he right of self-3 representation is not a license to abuse the dignity of the 4 courtroom. Neither is it a license not to comply with relevant 5 rules of procedural and substantive law." Id. The high court 6 reiterated this point in McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 173, 7 104 S.Ct. 944 (1984), noting that "an accused has a Sixth Amendment 8 right to conduct his own defense, provided only that he knowingly 9 and intelligently forgoes his right to counsel and that he is able 10 and willing to abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol." (emphasis added). 11

12 In predicting if a defendant will represent himself while 13 adhering to customary courtroom protocol, a trial court can and should properly consider pre-trial behavior of the defendant. 14 Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997, 1001, 946 P.2d 148, 150 (1997). 15 16 See also; United States v. Flewitt, 874 F.2d 669 (9th 1989) ("if the 17 district judge determines that the defendants' request is part of 18 a pattern of dilatory activity," the court may require the defendant to proceed on scheduled day, with counsel or in proper 19 20 person.); Stewart v. Corbin, 850 F.2d 492 (9th Cir 1998) (decision 21 based on several factors including violent acts in jail). Here, 22 the trial court noted Vanisi's violent disciplinary problems in the jail, causing his removal to the prison, and the similar problems 23 24 within the prison itself. As the court noted, Vanisi's "aggressive 25 and disruptive behavior" in the prison and the jail led the court 26 to anticipate that Vanisi would utilize his self-representation to

1 disrupt the trial. 5 ROA 1249.

21

22

23

24

25

26

2 The court also commented upon Vanisi's inability or 3 unwillingness to act in accordance with courtroom protocol. The district court noted that at previous hearings Vanisi had "blurted 4 5 out statements in a loud voice and interrupted this court." 5 ROA 6 1248. The court also commented on Vanisi asking the court to 7 repeat the same question "many times" and on his refusal to answer 8 when he took issue with the court's grammatical questions 9 construction of the question. The court noted that Vanisi had a 10 tendency to speak out loud to himself as though addressing the 11 courtroom audience. The court had observed Vanisi making state-12 ments under his breath while others were speaking. 5 ROA 1248-13 1249.

The court also commented on Vanisi's "standing up and engaging in unsettling rocking motions." <u>Id</u>. The district court concluded the combinations of words and gestures gave rise to the court's concern about future disruptions.

18This Court has previously noted the importance of the19demeanor and deportment of a defendant in deciding a Faretta20motion.Tanksley, supra. The Ninth Circuit agrees:

"[T]he appellate court is not in as favorable a position as the trial court to determine the effect of the defendant's disruptive conduct Even though facial on the proceedings. expressions, gestures, and other nonverbal are conduct significant, they cannot be transcribed by the court reporter. Also, the reaction of jurors and witnesses is easily observed by the trial judge but seldom appears in the written record. Therefore, great deference must be given to the decision of the

trial court." <u>Stewart v. Corbin</u>, 850 F.2d 492, 497-98 (9th Cir. 1988).

1

2

A court may also deny a Faretta motion, even if timely, 3 4 where the defendant's purpose is to delay the proceedings. 5 Tanksley, supra. Furthermore, no rule of law requires the court to take the defendant's protestations that he will be ready on the 6 7 designated date at face value. If a court anticipates that the defendant's true motive is to secure a delay, the court may deny 8 9 the motion for self-representation. The district court noted that Vanisi had filed a motion for the appointment of new counsel 10 11 despite having already decided to represent himself. The court 12 also commented upon Vanisi's prior attempts to secure delays in the trial as evidence of his true intent. 13

In Fitz v. Spalding, 682 F.2d 782, 784 (9th Cir. 1982), 14 15 the court held that the determination of whether the defendant 16 intends his Faretta motion as a delaying tactic is a question of 17 fact addressed to the trial court. The trial court should consider 18 such factors as whether the Faretta motion is accompanied by a 19 motion to continue, prior efforts to delay the trial, and "whether 20 the defendant could reasonably be expected to have made the motion 21 at an earlier time." Id. Here, while the motion was accompanied 22 by Vanisi's claim that he would not be seeking a continuance later, 23 the fact that he had purposefully delayed bringing his motion for 24 some 20 months, until what he perceived to be the last possible moment, coupled with the prior efforts to delay the trial, led the 25 26 trial court to determine as a matter of fact that Vanisi's motion,

even if timely, was made with the intent to delay the proceedings and not in good faith. As noted above, that factual determination, the decision regarding what inferences are to be drawn from the evidence, is reserved to the district court. That is especially true where the factors noted by the court, the rocking, the muttering, the speaking out of turn in a "loud" voice, are not matters that are readily qualifiable or quantifiable.

1

2

3.

4

5

6

7

26

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